ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court Of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-002435
Trial Court Case No. 2011-CP-23-07943

RECEIVED

DEC 04 2014

SC Court of Appeals

John Deere Financial, f.s.b., f/k/a FPC Financial, f.s.b.

Plaintiff,

v.

Jerry A. Bruce,

Defendant

and

Jerry A. Bruce,

Third Party Plaintiff

Of Whom Jerry A. Bruce

Respondent

v.

Flint Equipment Co.

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT FLINT EQUIPMENT CO.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR BY REVIEWING FLINT EQUIPMENT CO.'S MOTION TO SET ASIDE ENTRY OF DEFAULT UNDER THE WRONG LEGAL STANDARD WHEN IT REVIEWED THE MOTION UNDER THE HEIGHTENED STANDARD OF RULE 60(b) WHERE NO DEFAULT JUDGMENT HAD BEEN ENTERED?**
- II. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR BY ENTERING A DEFAULT JUDGMENT AGAINST FLINT EQUIPMENT CO. WHEN THE THIRD-PARTY COMPLAINT SOUGHT ONLY RELIEF NOT AVAILABLE UNDER SOUTH CAROLINA LAW OR THAT WAS INSUFFICIENTLY PLED?**
- III. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN AWARDING DAMAGES AGAINST FLINT EQUIPMENT CO. WHERE THE THIRD-PARTY PLAINTIFF FAILED TO PROVE THOSE DAMAGES AND WHERE THE COURT FAILED TO FIND FACTS SUPPORTING TREBLE DAMAGES?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a Third-Party Complaint filed by Jerry A. Bruce (“Bruce”) against Flint Equipment Co. (“Flint”). On November 30, 2012, Plaintiff John Deere Financials, f.s.b. (“John Deere”) filed suit against Bruce, seeking \$6,476.90, plus fees and costs, allegedly owed by Bruce on an open account with John Deere. (R. pp. 2-4). Bruce answered (R. p. 7). and sought leave, under S.C. R. Civ. P. 14(a), to file a Third-Party Complaint against Flint (R. pp. 5-6), alleging that Flint was liable to Bruce under Rule 14(a) because it improperly charged certain disputed equipment repair items to Bruce’s account with John Deere. The Third Party Complaint asserted causes of action for fraud and deceit as well as violations of the Unfair Trade Practices Act, S.C. Code § 39-5-10 et seq. (“UTPA”). (R. pp. 10-11). The Third-Party Complaint sought an unspecified amount of damages, treble damages, and attorneys’ fees and costs. (*Id.* at 12-13). The Court granted Bruce’s Motion and authorized filing and service of the Third-Party Complaint against Flint. (R. pp. 15-16). Bruce filed his Third-Party Complaint against Flint on February 8, 2013, and the Third-Party Complaint was served on Flint by certified mail on February 11, 2013. (R. pp. 13; R. p. 14).

When Flint failed to answer the Third-Party Complaint, Bruce filed an “Affidavit of Default for Third-Party Defendant Flint Equipment Co.” on April 12, 2013. (R. pp. 17-18). The Affidavit of Default stated that proper service had been made on Flint but that no answer or other response had been received. (*Id.*) Along with the Affidavit of Default, Bruce submitted a proposed “Order of Default and Order Setting Damages Hearing.” (R. pp. 20-21). The Order noted that the “matter is before the Court upon Motion of counsel for the Third-Party Plaintiff seeking an Entry of Default and requesting that a hearing be set to determine appropriate damages, attorneys [*sic*] fees and costs.” (*Id.*) After noting that Flint failed to respond to the

Complaint, the Court ordered that “Third Party Defendant is in default on the Third Party Plaintiff’s Complaint” and that a damages hearing be set. (*Id.*) The Order was signed in chambers without a hearing on May 28, 2013 and filed on May 30, 2013. (R. pp. 20-21). The Order did not enter a default judgment against Flint.

On June 17, 2013, after receiving notice of the entry of default and damages hearing, Flint moved to set aside the default and for leave to file an answer. (R. pp. 22-24). The Court held a hearing on the Motion on July 10, 2013. (R. pp. 55-100). On July 26, 2013, the Court entered an order denying the Motion under S.C. R. Civ. P. 60(b)(1). (R. pp. 110-113). On July 10, 2013, the Court also held a damages hearing on Bruce’s request for a default judgment. (R. pp. 55-100). After hearing evidence on damages, the Court orally entered judgment in favor of Bruce against Flint in the amount of \$7,772.28, plus attorney’s fees. (R. pp. 99). On July 23, 2013, the Court entered an order, in the Court’s “discretion” trebling the principal amount of the judgment, and entering final judgment in Bruce’s favor in the amount of \$31,508.04 (R. pp. 114-117).

On July 25, 2013, Flint filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the Order denying its Motion to Set Aside Default. (R. pp. 104-107). On August 9, 2013, after receiving the Court’s formal Order, Flint filed an Amended Motion to Alter or Amend the Order Denying the Motion to Set Aside Default. (R. pp. 118-130). On August 20, 2013, Flint filed a Motion and Memorandum to Reconsider and/or Alter or Amend the Judgment entered in favor of Bruce. (R. pp. 133-143). The Court denied all these Motions in Orders dated October 8, 2013. (R. pp. 144-146; R. pp. 131-132). On November 4, 2013, Flint filed its Notice of Appeal (R. pp. 153-177).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Flint, a Georgia corporation, is an authorized service provider and dealer of John Deere equipment, and maintains offices in Simpsonville, SC. (R. p. 32). Bruce, an individual and resident of South Carolina, purchased a track hoe from Flint. (R. p. 2; R. pp. 9-10). Subsequently, Bruce engaged Flint to repair the track hoe. (*Id.* at ¶ 4). John Deere filed a debt collection action against Bruce on November 30, 2014, alleging that Bruce owes John Deere \$6,476.90 on an open account. (R. p. 3). Thereafter, Bruce answered John Deere's Complaint and sought leave to implead Flint pursuant to S.C.R.C.P. 14(a). (R. pp. 5-6; R. pp. 7). The court granted Bruce's Motion and allowed Bruce to file a third-party Complaint against Flint. (R. pp. 15-16).

On February 8, 2013, Bruce filed the Third-Party Complaint alleging that Flint "made unauthorized charges on the John Deere credit card of Bruce" and therefore was liable for the debt complained of by John Deere. (R. p. 10). In the Third-Party Complaint, Bruce set forth causes of action for fraud and deceit as well as violations of UTPA, seeking an unspecified amount of damages, treble damages, and attorney's fees and costs. (R. pp. 10-13). On February 8, 2013, Bruce attempted to serve CT Corporation System ("CT"), Flint's registered agent in South Carolina, via certified mail. (R. p. 59). Although the Third-Party Complaint incorporated the Original Complaint by reference, as well as Bruce's Answer thereto, the pleadings did not contain either of these documents. (R. p. 14). CT Corporation forwarded the Summons and Third-Party Complaint to Flint's headquarters in Georgia. (R. p. 57). Thereafter, the Summons and Third-Party Complaint went missing and never reached the appropriate party. (R. pp. 57-58). Accordingly, Flint did not answer the Third-Party Complaint or appear. (*Id.*)

On April 12, 2013, Bruce filed an “Affidavit of Default for Third-Party Defendant Flint Equipment Co”, attesting that Flint had been properly served, but failed to respond. (R. pp. 17-19). The Affidavit further attested that “this Affidavit is made in support of Defendant’s Motion for entry of Third-Party Defendant’s default, filed herewith.” (*Id.*). In conjunction with the Affidavit, Bruce submitted a proposed order, providing as follows:

This matter is before the Court upon Motion of counsel for the Third Party Plaintiff seeking an Entry of Default and requesting that a hearing be set to determine appropriate damages, attorney’s fees, and costs.

(R. p. 20). Along with details regarding service and Flint’s failure to appear, the Order stated:

Based on the foregoing, it is hereby ordered that the Third Party Defendant is in default on the Third Party Plaintiff’s Complaint. The Clerk of Court shall immediately set a hearing to determine damages, such hearing to be held on _____, the _____ day of _____, 2013, at _____ o’clock _____.m. in the Court of Common Pleas of Greenville, South Carolina.

(R. p. 21). The court signed the Order of Default on May 28, 2013, and it was duly filed on May 30, 2013. (*Id.*)

Flint was first apprised of the litigation on or about June 4, 2013, when it received notice of the damages hearing. (R. p. 33). Thereafter, Flint moved to set aside or vacate the default judgment. (R. p. 22-31). The Motion to Set Aside Default requested that the court set aside the entry of default pursuant to S.C.R.C.P. 55(c) and the factors articulated in *Wham v. Shearson Lehman Bros., Inc.*, 298 S.C. 462, 465, 381 S.E.2d 499, 501 (Ct. App. 1989). (R. pp. 33-36). In contrast, Bruce argued that the court should analyze the Motion to Set Aside under the standard set forth in S.C.R.C.P. Rule 60(b). (R. pp. 40-42). The circuit court agreed with Bruce and stated in an Order denying the Motion to Set Aside Default:

Initially Flint sought to have its motion for default [*sic*] determined by the less strict legal standard of Rule 55(c). Part of its argument for the lesser standard was that the Order of Judge Hill was not an order of default. This interpretation of Judge Hill’s Order is misplaced. This Court finds Judge Hill’s Order was for

default and therefore the more stringent requirements of Rule 60(b)(1) must be applied. . . . Flint has not presented excusable neglect and therefore, good cause for setting aside the default.

(R. pp. 111-112). Before the court, Flint also argued that the Third-Party Complaint sought relief that was unavailable under Rule 14, which governs third-party practice. (R. pp. 51-52; R. p. 65). However, the court declined to declare the default judgment void, reasoning that Rule 14 is a procedural rule, not subject to challenge after a default, and, alternatively, that Bruce's claims against Flint are "intertwined" with the Original Complaint. (R. pp. 112-113).

At the damages hearing, Bruce stated that he purchased a track hoe from Flint for \$150,000, financed under the "John Deere Credit Power [P]lan." (R. p. 67). Bruce testified extensively about repairs that the track hoe allegedly necessitated. (R. p. 67-73). However, he did not present clear or substantial testimony with regard to the damages suffered, nor did Bruce testify that he has actually paid any of the monies to John Deere, with the exception of "authorized charges" that were not in dispute. (R. p. 87). The court even acknowledged that "[t]he numbers aren't adding up." How come the numbers don't add up . . . ?" (R. p. 90). Nonetheless, the court proceeded to award Bruce "\$7,772.28 plus the attorney's fees." (R. p. 99). Notably, the court did not make any finding with regard to willful or knowing conduct under the UTPA at the damages hearing.

On August 2, 2013, the circuit court filed a "Judgment Against Flint Equipment Company." The Order found that Bruce was entitled to "\$6,476.90 unpaid charges and twenty percent (20%) attorney fee in the amount of \$1,295.38 for a total of \$7,772.28" based upon the debt John Deere alleged that Bruce owes in the Original Complaint. (R. p. 117). "In the exercise of discretion," the court trebled the damages to \$23,316.84. (*Id.*). Finally, the court awarded

Bruce \$8,191.20 in attorney's fees for a total judgment of \$31,508.04. (*Id.*). Again, the court did not make any finding regarding willful or knowing UTPA violations on the part of Flint.

Flint filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the Order denying its Motion to Set Aside Default, and, after receiving the Court's formal Order, Flint filed an Amended Motion to Alter or Amend the Order Denying the Motion to Set Aside Default. (R. pp. 104-107); (R. p. 118-130). Thereafter, Flint duly filed a Motion to Reconsider and/or Alter or Amend the Judgment Against Flint Equipment Company. In the Motion, Flint argued that the pleadings were defective because the Third-Party Complaint did not comport with the derivative liability requirements of S.C. R. Civ. P. 14, and were insufficient to support a cause of action under UTPA. (R. pp. 133-139). The Motion also asserted that the evidence presented at the damages hearing did not support the damages or attorneys' fees awarded and that trebling of the damages was improper. (*Id.* at pp. 139-142). The Court denied all these Motions in Orders dated October 8, 2013. (R. pp. 146-147; R. pp. 131-132). On November 4, 2013, Flint duly filed its Notice of Appeal (R. pp. 153-177).

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT COMMITTED AN ERROR OF LAW BY REVIEWING FLINT EQUIPMENT CO.'S MOTION TO SET ASIDE ENTRY OF DEFAULT UNDER THE WRONG LEGAL STANDARD WHEN IT REVIEWED THE MOTION UNDER THE HEIGHTENED STANDARD OF RULE 60(b) WHERE NO DEFAULT JUDGMENT HAD BEEN ENTERED.

The first issue in this appeal is whether the circuit court committed an error of law when it analyzed Flint's Motion to Set Aside Default under the heightened standard of S.C. R. Civ. P. 60(b) rather than the more lenient standard of Rule 55(c) when only an entry of default—and not a default judgment—had been entered against Flint. While this Court reviews the denial of a Motion to Set Aside Default for abuse of discretion, an abuse of discretion will be found where the trial court committed an error of law. *Ricks v. Weinrauch*, 293 S.C. 372, 375, 360 S.E.2d 535, 536-37 (Ct. App. 1987). Whether the trial court used the correct legal standard when reviewing a Motion to Set Aside Default is a question of law, which this Court reviews *de novo*. *Wham v. Shearson Lehman Bros., Inc.*, 298 S.C. 462, 465, 381 S.E.2d 499, 501 (Ct. App. 1989).

Under the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, where the damages claimed by the plaintiff are not liquidated, obtaining a default judgment is a two-step process. First, the plaintiff must obtain an entry of default against the defendant under Rule 55(a);¹ second, the plaintiff must obtain a default judgment under Rule 55(b).² Recognizing this distinction between an entry of default and a default judgment, the Court of Appeals has noted:

“If, in order to enable the court to enter judgment or to carry it into effect, it is necessary to take an account or to determine the amount of damages . . . the court

¹ Rule 55(a) provides: “When a party against whom a judgment for affirmative relief is sought has failed to plead or otherwise defend as provided by these rules and that fact is made to appear by affidavit or otherwise, the clerk shall enter his default upon the calendar (file book).”

² Rule 55(b), in relevant part, provides: “. . . [T]he party entitled to a judgment by default shall apply to the Court therefor. . . . If, in order to enable the court to enter judgment or to carry it into effect, it is necessary to take an account or to determine the amount of damages . . . the court may conduct such hearings or order such references as it deems necessary and proper. . . .”

may conduct such hearings or order such references as it deems necessary and proper. . . .” This language indicates a court is unable to enter judgment until damages are determined. The entry of default is an official recognition of the failure to appear or otherwise respond, but it is not a judgment by default.

Ricks, 293 S.C. at 374, 360 S.E.2d at 536 (quoting Rule 55(b) and citing H. Lightsey, J. Flanagan, *South Carolina Civil Procedure*, 77 (2d Ed. 1985)).

The distinction between an entry of default and a default judgment is not merely academic. It is vital because it determines the standard by which a court will judge the defaulted defendant’s attempt to avoid the default. In that regard, Rule 55(c) provides that an entry of default may be set aside “on good cause shown.” Rule 60(b), in contrast, requires a higher showing of mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect; newly discovered evidence; fraud, misrepresentation, or misconduct on the adverse party; or that the judgment is void or has been satisfied. This Court has recognized that the different standards of Rule 55(c) and Rule 60(b) lead to a meaningful difference in a trial court’s decision on a defendant’s motion to avoid a default:

The standard for granting relief from an entry of default is good cause under Rule 55(c), while the standard is more rigorous for granting relief from a default judgment under Rule 60(b). Relief granted at the point of entry of default is within the equitable power of the court and excuses previous failure to act promptly.

Ricks, 293 S.C. at 374, 360 S.E.2d at 536. Moreover, this Court has held that a trial court’s improper use of the heightened Rule 60(b) standard rather than the Rule 55(c) standard in reviewing a motion to set aside default where no default judgment has been entered constitutes reversible error:

In deciding the question of whether to grant the motion by [Defendant] for relief from the entry of default, the master did not employ the “good cause” standard. Instead, the master erroneously applied the more rigorous standard of “excusable neglect,” a standard used under Rule 60(b). He did this even though he recognized the “good cause” standard was applicable. We therefore remand for a

redetermination by the master the issue of whether [Defendant] should be relieved from the entry of default.

Wham, 298 S.C. at 465, 381 S.E.2d at 501; *see also Top Value Homes, Inc. v. Harden*, 319 S.C. 302, 460 S.E.2d 427 (Ct. App. 1995) (reversing judgment entered against defendant and remanding for court to review motion to set aside default under correct standard of Rule 55(c) rather than higher standard of Rule 60(b)). In fact, in both *Wham* and *Top Value*, the Court articulated specific factors (the “*Wham* factors”) that must be considered by the trial court in its use of Rule 55(c):

We therefore remand for a redetermination by the master the issue of whether [Defendant] should be relieved from the entry of default. In determining the issue, the master, exercising a broader, more liberal discretion than he otherwise would under Rule 60(b), shall consider the following factors: (1) the timing of [Defendant’s] motion for relief; (2) whether [Defendant] has a meritorious defense; and (3) the degree of prejudice to [Plaintiff] if relief is granted.

Wham, 298 S.C. at 465; 381 S.E.2d at 501–02; *see also Top Value*, 319 S.C. at 306, 460 S.E.2d at 429.

It is therefore well established that there is a difference between an entry of default and a default judgment, and that difference determines the correct standard of review to be applied by the court to a defendant’s motion for relief. Where the trial court erroneously applies the rigorous standard of Rule 60(b) when no default judgment has been entered, the judgment against the defaulted defendant must be vacated and the case remanded for the trial court to apply the correct standard of Rule 55(c).

In the present case, there can be no reasonable dispute that, at the time Flint filed its Motion to Set Aside Default, an entry of default only and not a default judgment had been entered against Flint. After being sued by John Deere for debts allegedly owed on an open account, Bruce filed and served a Third-Party Complaint against Flint, alleging that Flint was

liable to Bruce under Rule 14 because it fraudulently charged certain amounts to Bruce's John Deere account without his consent for equipment repair work Bruce never authorized. (R. p. 10). After receiving no answer or response from Flint, Bruce filed an affidavit of default, stating only that Flint had been properly served, that no answer or other response had been received, and that "this Affidavit is made in support of Defendant's Motion for entry of Third-Party Defendant's default, filed herewith." (R. p. 17-18). Along with the affidavit of default, Bruce submitted a proposed order, which provided:

This matter is before the Court upon Motion of counsel for the Third Party Plaintiff seeking an Entry of Default and requesting that a hearing be set to determine appropriate damages, attorneys' fees, and costs.

(R. p. 20). After reciting details on service and Flint's failure to appear, the Order further stated:

Based on the foregoing, it is hereby ordered that the Third Party Defendant is in default on the Third Party Plaintiff's Complaint. The Clerk of Court shall immediately set a hearing to determine damages, such hearing to be held on _____, the _____ day of _____, 2013, at _____ o'clock _____.m. in the Court of Common Pleas of Greenville, South Carolina.

(R. p. 21). The Order was signed on May 28, 2013 and filed on May 30, 2013. Before the damages hearing was held and any default judgment entered, Flint filed a Motion to Set Aside the Entry of Default. (R. pp. 22-24).

Under these facts, it is clear that no default judgment had been entered at the time Flint moved to set aside the default. Both the affidavit of default and the Order entering default referenced only entry of default. Further, the Third-Party Complaint and the affidavit of default contained no information on which damages could have been calculated, and the Order of default required that a hearing be held to determine damages. As this Court held in *Ricks*, under these facts, "a court is unable to enter judgment until damages are determined. The entry of default is

an official recognition of the failure to appear or otherwise respond, but it is not a judgment by default.”

At the time the court ruled on Flint’s Motion to Set Aside Default, there was no default judgment in place; therefore, the circuit court was required by the Rules of Civil Procedure and by this Court’s decisions in *Wham* and *Top Value* to analyze the Motion under Rule 55(c) rather than Rule 60(b). Flint’s Motion to Set Aside Default expressly requested a ruling based on Rule 55(c) argued that the “good cause” standard of that rule had been met under the factors set forth in *Wham*. Nonetheless, Bruce asserted that Rule 60(b) was the correct standard (R. pp. 40-42), and the circuit court adopted this view. In its Order denying the Motion to Set Aside Default, the court noted:

Initially Flint sought to have its motion for default [*sic*] determined by the less strict legal standard of Rule 55(c). Part of its argument for the lesser standard was that the Order of Judge Hill was not an order of default. This interpretation of Judge Hill’s Order is misplaced. This Court finds Judge Hill’s Order was for default and therefore the more stringent requirements of Rule 60(b)(1) must be applied.

(R. pp. 111-112). Thus, by the terms of its Order, the court expressly applied the wrong legal standard to Flint’s Motion to Set Aside Default. The Order further shows that the court, in fact, applied the Rule 60(b) standard because it found that “Flint has not presented excusable neglect and therefore, good cause for setting aside the default.” (*Id.* at 112). To support this finding, the court’s Order focused on whether Flint had an excuse for its neglect to respond to service of the Third-Party Summons and Complaint based on Flint’s claim that the documents had simply been misplaced, an analysis that is relevant only to “excusable neglect” under Rule 60(b) and not “good cause” under Rule 55(c). Excusable neglect is relevant only to Rule 60(b) and not to a Rule 55(c) analysis, and the court clearly required Flint to meet this higher element required by Rule 60(b). Lastly, despite Flint’s invocation of the *Wham* factors required by this Court for

analysis of a Motion to Set Aside Default under Rule 55(c), the Court did not apply or discuss those factors in its Order.

Accordingly, the circuit court erred in refusing to analyze Flint's Motion to Set Aside Default under Rule 55(c) and instead requiring Flint to meet the higher standard of Rule 60(b). Under *Wham* and *Top Value*, cases in which the lower court similarly erred by employing the Rule 60(b) standard instead of Rule 55(c)'s good cause standard, the circuit court's Order denying Flint's Motion to Set Aside Default and the resulting default judgment in favor of Bruce must be vacated and the case remanded for the circuit court to analyze the motion under the correct legal standard and employing the *Wham* factors.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY ENTERING A DEFAULT JUDGMENT AGAINST FLINT WHERE THE THIRD-PARTY COMPLAINT SOUGHT ONLY RELIEF THAT IS NOT AVAILABLE UNDER SOUTH CAROLINA LAW OR WAS INSUFFICIENTLY PLED.

Even if the circuit court properly denied Flint's Motion to Set Aside Default, the default judgment entered in Bruce's favor must nonetheless be reversed because the court erred by entering that judgment based on a Third-Party Complaint that sought only relief unavailable under South Carolina law or that was insufficiently pled.

A. Entry of Default Does Not Permit a Judgment for Relief Unavailable at Law or that was Insufficiently Pled nor does it Waive the Defaulted Defendant's Right to Challenge the Sufficiency of the Pleadings

Before the circuit court, Flint argued that Bruce was not entitled to a default judgment because the Third-Party Complaint sought only relief unavailable under Rule 14 or, alternatively, on an UTPA claim that was insufficiently pled. (R. pp. 51-52; R p. 99). The circuit court found that the entry of default against Flint barred these arguments. (R. p. 99; R. p. 112). This was error.

The entry of default against Flint did not obviate Flint’s right to contest Bruce’s entitlement to a default judgment on the grounds that the pleadings were defective, failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, or did not comply with the Rules of Civil Procedure.

[A] default admits only what has been well pleaded, and it does not forfeit the rights of a defendant, except as to matters necessarily admitted by the default... Therefore, if the complaint fails to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, any judgment thereon, except one of dismissal, goes beyond the allegations of the complaint[.]. . . is without authority of law and cannot be sustained.

Gadsden v. Home Fertilizer & Chemical Co., 89 S.C. 483, 484, 72 S.E. 15, 17 (1911); *see also* *Masters v. Rodgers*, 283 S.C. 251, 254, 321 S.E.2d 194, 196 (Ct. App. 1984) (“[The] default [judgment] did not preclude [the defendant] from challenging the sufficiency of the complaint as the basis for judgment.”); *Mutual Savings and Loan Assoc. v. McKenzie*, 274 S.C. 630, 632, 266 S.E. 2d 423, 424 (1980) (“A party seeking a default judgment is entitled to only such relief as is framed by his pleading, and then only to the extent requested therein if a complaint fails to state a cause of action, the rendering of a default judgment thereon is without authority of law and therefore reversible error.”). Thus, an entry of default is not “an absolute confession by the defendant of his liability and of the plaintiff’s right to recover.” *Ryan v. Homecomings Fin. Network*, 253 F.3d 778, 780 (4th Cir. 2001).

The above cited authorities follow the reasoning articulated by the U.S. Supreme Court in *Thomson v. Wooster*, 114 U.S. 104, 112–114 (1885). In this, “venerable but still definitive case” the Court held that:

a default judgment may be lawfully entered only according to what is proper to be decreed upon the statements of the bill, assumed to be true, and not as of course according to the prayer of the bill. The defendant is not held . . . to admit conclusions of law.

Ryan, 253 F.3d at 780 (internal punctuation omitted). Applying this principle, our Supreme Court announced that the plaintiff winning by default is afforded no more relief than what would have been granted had a motion to dismiss been timely filed. *Mutual Savings*, 274 S.C. at 632, 266 S.E.2d at 425. Thus, in *Mutual Savings*, because the facts contained in the four corners of the complaint failed to plead the required elements of the plaintiff's cause of action for fraud, the entry of a default judgment that was grounded on the insufficient pleadings was necessarily improper:

It is essential that the facts and circumstances which constitute the fraud should be set out clearly. The complaint must allege facts which would afford a basis upon which a jury could properly find support for each of the elements above set forth, and if the complaint fails to allege facts to support any one of the elements of fraud and deceit, then the complaint is fatally defective.

Id. (Internal citations omitted.)

Here, Flint sought to follow the rules laid down in these cases by challenging the Third-Party Complaint's claim for relief under Rule 14 and the sufficiency of its UTPA claim. The circuit court erred by refusing to consider these arguments based on Flint's default. As explained below, when these arguments are considered, it becomes apparent that the Third-Party Complaint sought only relief that was unavailable under Rule 14 or that was insufficiently pled.

B. The Third-Party Complaint Sought Only Relief Unavailable Under South Carolina Law

As noted, the default judgment in this case was entered on a Third-Party Complaint, filed against Flint pursuant to S.C. R. Civ. P. 14. However, Bruce's Third-Party Complaint sought only relief that is not available under Rule 14. It is well established that "[a] third-party claim may be asserted under Rule 14(a) only when the third party's liability is in some way dependent on the outcome of the main claim or when the third party is secondarily liable to defendant." 6 C. WRIGHT AND A. MILLER, FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE § 1460 at 246

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