STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

DEC 03 2014

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

Hon. Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-002435

John Deere Financial, f.s.b., f/k/a FPC Financial, f.s.b., Plaintiff

v.

Jerry A. Bruce, Defendant,

and

Jerry A. Bruce, Third Party Plaintiff,

Of Whom Jerry A. Bruce is the Respondent,

v.

Flint Equipment Co., Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

O. W. Bannister

SC Bar No. 506; Fed. ID No. 1184

BANNISTER, WYATT & STALVEY, LLC

401 Pettigru Street (29601)

P. O. Box 10007 (29603)

Greenville, South Carolina

Phone: (864) 298-0084; Fax: (864) 298-0146

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

### **ARGUMENT**

- I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT AN ERROR OF LAW IN USING THE LEGAL STANDARD IN RULE 60(b) RATHER THAN THE LEGAL STANDARD IN RULE 55(c) BECAUSE THE COURT ENTERED A FINAL JUDGMENT AS TO DEFAULT BEFORE THE APPELLANT MOVED TO SET THE DEFAULT JUDGMENT ASIDE.

Flint argues the lower court erroneously applied the stricter standard of S.C.R. Civ. P. 60(b) rather than the less strict standard of Rule 55(c) in considering its motion to set aside its default. Flint's position rests on two assertions. The first is that no court action on a claim of unliquidated damages becomes a default judgment until damages are awarded. The second assertion is that Judge Hill's order of default is a nullity.

Flint supports its first assertion in two ways. The first is its interpretation of that portion of Rule 55(b)(2) which provides, in part:

If, in order to enable the court to enter judgment or to carry it into effect, it is necessary to take an account or to determine the amount of damages or to establish the truth of any averment by evidence or to make an investigation of any other matter, the court may conduct such hearing or order such references as it deems necessary and proper.... *Rule 55(b)(2), S.C.R. Civ. P.*

Flint ignores the words "... or carry it into effect...." "It" obviously means the judgment of default where damages are not liquidated.

Flint's assertion that the court cannot enter a judgment of default with damages to be decided later makes unliquidated damages determine the standard for setting aside a default rather than that the timing of a motion to set aside the default. To illustrate, Rule 55(b)(1) states:

When the claim of a party seeking judgment by default is for a liquidated amount, a sum certain or a sum which can by computation be made certain, the judge, upon motion or application of the party seeking default, and upon affidavit of the amount due, shall enter judgment for that amount and costs against the party against whom judgment by default is sought, if that party has been defaulted for failure to appear and if such party is not a minor or incompetent person. A verified pleading may be used in lieu of an affidavit when the pleading contains information sufficient to determine or compute the sum certain. *Rule 55(b)(1), S.C.R. Civ. P.*

Thus, the defaulting defendant of liquidated damages suffers a judgment of default containing an award of damages and must seek to set such judgment aside under Rule 60(b). On the other hand, the defaulting party with unliquidated damage must have notice of the damage hearing and always has that window of opportunity to seek to set aside the default under the good cause standard of Rule 55(c) because no default judgment can be entered, according to Flint's argument, until damages are awarded.

To allow the difference between liquidated damages and unliquidated damages to determine the test for relieving default is illogical and strains the intent of Rule 55.

Flint argues that the decision in Wham v. Shearson Lehman Brothers, Inc., 298 S.C. 462, 381 S.E.2d 499 (Ct. App. 1989) supports its position that the court cannot enter a judgment by default unless it contains an award of damages. In Wham, the plaintiff filed an affidavit of default and the clerk entered the default the same day. (*Id.* p. 499) The matter was referred to the master. Default was therefore entered by the clerk, not by a judge's finding of default formalized in an order of the court as in the case here.

The second assertion of Flint is that Judge Hill could not enter an order of default because damages were yet to be determined. Nothing in Rule 55 states a court cannot make a finding of default with damages to be determined in a separate hearing. In other words, the proceeding was bifurcated with Judge Hill entering a judgment on the issue of default with damages to be determined later. See Sundown Operating Company, Inc. v. Intedge Industries, Inc., 383 S.C. 601, 681 S.E.2d 885 (2009). Default and damages seems to have been bifurcated in that case.

In the event this Court considers the holding in Wham to require all defaults with unliquidated damages to remain non-final as to default until damages are awarded, then, under Rule 217, S.C.R. Civ. P., Bruce would argue the holding in Wham should be overruled. In its place, a court can hold a circuit judge's findings of default as a final judgment on that issue and have damages assessed later by the court in order to carry out or complete the order of default. Such a change in precedent would be logical, consistent with Rule 55, and remove the distinction between judgment of default with liquidated damages and default with unliquidated damages.

In conclusion, Bruce requests the Court to approve the decision of the lower court.

II. THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING BRUCE COULD MAINTAIN HIS CLAIM UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA

UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT BECAUSE BRUCE'S CLAIM WAS THE RESULT OF FLINT'S FRAUDULENT ACTIONS AND WAS INTERTWINED AND DERIVATIVE OF FLINT'S CONDUCT.

The standard of review of a motion to dismiss third party claim is abuse of discretion. Beach v. Hudson, 298 S.C. 424, 380 S.E.2d 869 (Ct. App. 1989).

Initially Flint argued the trial judge refused to consider its claim that relief was not available to Bruce under Rule 14 because of the default. However, the trial judge also ruled, "Even if Flint's Rule 14 motion is proper, the Court declines to set aside the default under the exercise of its discretion." (R. p. 112, 113). Thus, the trial court considered Flint's motion on the merits.

Next Flint asserts that Bruce requested relief not available to him under a Rule 14 third party pleading. Flint cites Beach for the requirement that "a third-party claim may be asserted under Rule 14(a) only when the third party's liability is in some way dependent on the outcome of the main claim or when the third party is secondarily liable to defendant. (*Id.* p. 425, 871.)

Bruce was sued on his account by John Deere for parts and labor charged by Flint which Bruce did not authorize. If Bruce loses the suit to John Deere Credit, he must reimburse John Deere Credit for charges he did not make. By defaulting, Flint admits Bruce did not authorize the charges to his John Deere credit account.

The trial court properly found that Bruce's claim against Flint "was certainly intertwined with John Deere's claim against Bruce." (R. p. 113). Therefore, the findings of the trial judge are supported by sufficient facts and withstand an abuse of discretion charge.

While Flint acknowledges Bruce's claim against it may be "intertwined" with the John Deere Credit complaint, Flint asserts Bruce's claim must be derivative. Contrary to

Flint's assertion, Bruce's claim derived out of Flint's actions in charging Bruce for repairs he did not authorize.

Finally, Flint argues for the first time that Bruce's UTPA claim was not adequately pled. Hornbook law dictates that this argument should not be considered.

Bruce's complaint sets forth the acts that constitute the unfair trade. Specifically, Flint charged Bruce's John Deere account for work and parts not authorized by Bruce and for obtaining payment from John Deere for the unauthorized work. Bruce was subsequently sued by John Deere for the fraudulent charges. Thus, Bruce suffered damages in having to defend the suit and is exposed to having to pay for labor and parts he never authorized.

Under the facts of this case Bruce requests this Court to reject the claim of Flint.

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN TREBLING BRUCE'S DAMAGES UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT BECAUSE FLINT ADMITTED BY DEFAULT THE ACTS WERE UNFAIR AND DECEPTIVE AND WERE WILFUL AND THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTED THE COURT'S FINDING.

Flint argues that the trial court erred for lack of proof in awarding damages against it and then trebling the damages.

By defaulting, Flint admitted it charged Bruce's credit with John Deere for work that was neither authorized nor performed and obtained payment from John Deere for that work. (R. p. 12, para. 23). Flint also admitted that its acts were unfair and deceptive and continue to be willful. (R. p. 12, para. 26). Limehouse v. Hulsey, 404 S.C. 93, 744 S.E.2d 566 (2013) quoting Roche v. Young Bros., Inc., of Florence, 332 S.C. 75, 81, 504 S.E.2d 311, 314 (1998), "It is well settled that by suffering a default, the defaulting party is deemed to have admitted the truth of the plaintiff's allegations and to have conceded liability."

While the trial court may have misspoken on trebling the damages, its order reflects that it found the violation was willful.

**CONCLUSION**